Strengthening Partnerships:

A Guide to Family Rights & Safeguards in the



Part C Early Intervention System

2024



The Arc of Virginia 2147 Staples Mill Road Richmond, VA 23230 T: 804.649.8481 www.thearcofva.org

Dear Parent,

The Arc of Virginia staff is dedicated to providing support to the families receiving early intervention services. We are an organization composed of families who have received these services and we understand first-hand the questions and concerns that you may be having as you navigate services and supports.

This book was written to help families understand the early intervention system and the rights and safeguards (or protections) that have been put in place to ensure that families are involved in decisions that are being made concerning their child's early intervention services. These safeguards are included in Notice of Child and Family Rights & Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share. You will receive a copy and explanation of these rights and safeguards throughout your time in the early intervention system.

As parents of children with developmental delays, we may be members of many teams throughout our children's lives such as the early intervention Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) team. Although early intervention staff will explain the IFSP team's purpose to you, you may still be wondering what part you play with the "professionals" gathered with you.

The most important thing to remember is that you are at the table speaking on behalf of your child and family and that you are the expert on this topic! Early intervention staff are there to coach and support you to interact with your child in ways to support their development. Because you spend the most time with your child you have more opportunities during natural routines and activities to interact with your child, develop strategies, and practice them with your child.

The Arc of Virginia is a statewide organization for children with developmental delays, people with developmental disabilities, and their families. Our New Path program was developed to provide focused support to families receiving early intervention services and facilitate family advocacy in the early intervention system. We have an e-newsletter that provides families with updates on early intervention and other related services, including family advocacy opportunities. Our staff is here to answer questions, provide support, and give families the tools they need to become involved.

Please visit our website www.thearcofva.org/newpath for more information. You can also find us on Facebook at www.facebook.com/newpathei or www.facebook.com/thearcofva Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have a question or would like to learn more. You can reach me directly at 804-649- 8481 ext. 102 or rchurch@thearcofva.org

Sincerely, Robin Church Director of New Path Family Support Network

Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia Strengthening Partnerships – 4/24

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PURPOSE OF THIS GUIDE	1
BACKGROUND	2
EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES	3
FINDING OUT IF YOUR CHILD IS ELIGIBLE FOR EARLY INTERVENTION	4
ASSESSMENT FOR SERVICE PLANNING	7
INDIVIDUALIZED FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP) MEETING	8
AVAILABLE EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES	10
PAYING FOR EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES	11
IFSP REVIEWS	
TRANSITION	13
CONFIDENTIALITY	14
REVIEWING YOUR CHILD'S RECORDS	16
RESOLVING DISAGREEMENTS	17
Filing a Complaint	18
Using Mediation	19
Requesting a Due Process Hearing	19
CLOSSARV	23

PURPOSE OF THIS GUIDE

Early intervention in Virginia is a coordinated system of community services for infants and toddlers (birth through age two, meaning until the child's third birthday) who have disabilities or developmental delays and their families. Through this system, called Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia, agencies, parents, and service providers work together to give children and their families services to meet the children's developmental needs.

Parents of infants and toddlers who are eligible for early intervention services have an important and special role to play in their child's services. Parents:

- → Provide information;
- → Give permission;
- → Participate in meetings; and
- → Decide what services to accept.

To assist families in their roles in the early intervention system, this guide explains the major steps in becoming involved in the Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia and the safeguards, or rules that are put in place to protect families' rights. It discusses how you can work with the people who provide early intervention services.

People who provide early intervention services might use technical language to describe the work they do with infants and toddlers and families. Ask for explanations of unfamiliar words. When technical words are used in this booklet, they will be defined in a box. There also is a glossary starting on page 23 of this booklet that defines some of these technical words.

BACKGROUND

Since the 1970's, the Commonwealth of Virginia has provided early intervention services for children, birth through two years of age (meaning until the child's third birthday), who are experiencing developmental delays. In 1986, the U.S. Congress provided funds to states to set up a comprehensive system of early intervention services. This system of services is referred to as Part C - Early Intervention for Infants and Toddlers with Disabilities within the federal special education law called the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). In this guide, the term *early intervention system* is used to describe Virginia's policies and practices under the federal Part C program.

In Virginia, there are 40 local lead agencies that plan, with the advice and assistance of a local interagency coordinating council (a group of people with interest in the early intervention system, including parents), how agencies and providers in the community will provide services for families.

Each local lead agency has someone you can contact for information and help. Please visit our website to find contact information for your local system. (https://www.itcva.online/local-system-managers)



EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES

Early intervention services are for infants and toddlers who are not developing as expected or who have a condition that can delay normal development, and their *families*. Services are provided to help children's development and to assist families in meeting the developmental needs of their child. Early intervention service providers work in partnership with families. Family involvement is important at every step along the way.

Family is defined according to each family's definition of itself.

Parent means a biological or adoptive parent of a child, a foster parent, a guardian, a person acting as a parent, (such as a grandparent or stepparent with whom a child lives, or a person who is legally responsible for the child's welfare); or a *surrogate parent*.

A *surrogate parent* is an individual assigned to act for a parent when the child is a ward of the state or a parent cannot be identified or located. If you are serving as a surrogate parent or want more information about safeguards and responsibilities of surrogate parents, contact your local <u>early intervention system listed on our website</u> (https://www.itcva.online/local-system-managers) or the Infant &

Toddler Connection of Virginia at (800) 234-1448.

Every child and family entering the early intervention system has a service coordinator. Your service coordinator's job is to help your family:

- → gather information to make good decisions for your child and family;
- → arrange for and keep track of services;
- → find out about and receive necessary services;
- → find out about advocacy services;
- → plan for changes in services (transition); and
- → understand your rights, safeguards and responsibilities as a parent and use them when appropriate.

FINDING OUT IF YOUR CHILD IS ELIGIBLE FOR EARLY INTERVENTION

When your child is referred to the Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia, a service coordinator will begin working with your family to find out if your child is eligible for services. This step is called eligibility determination. You will receive *written prior notice* before the eligibility determination happens.

Written Prior Notice: Before each major step in the early intervention process, your service coordinator must make sure you get a notice in writing. The notice will tell you what step comes next. The notice must be in the language you use unless this is not possible. It must also be clear and easy to understand. If you need any help in understanding the notice, ask your service coordinator for an explanation.

The notice must be given to you **before** the next step actually takes place. You can show the notice to others (a professional or friend) who can help you decide what is best for your child. All written prior notice will be given using standard state forms. Each time these standard forms are given to you, you will also receive a copy and explanation of Notice of Child and Family Rights and Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share, which is a technical explanation of parents' safeguards with references to federal law.

As the parent, you play an important role in getting ready for eligibility determination. You have the opportunity to:

- → Share information about you and your child, including what you know about your child's skills and needs;
- → Give your service coordinator permission to gather information about your child from other professionals who know your child or have tested your child;
- → Ask questions about the eligibility determination process; and
- → Give *informed consent*, permission, for eligibility determination.

Informed Consent: To make good decisions, you need accurate information. Giving your consent means that you understand what is being offered and recommended, and with that understanding, you give your permission. The best time to ask questions is before you give your consent.

To find out if your child is eligible for early intervention services, a *multidisciplinary* team reviews the information you shared about your child, results of any screening or assessment tool used, and information from your doctor and other professionals who know your child (with your permission).

Often this information is enough for the team to decide if your child meets the eligibility criteria for early intervention services (see page 6). Sometimes, the team will need more information and some testing will be done to help the team learn more about your child's development. If information from your child's medical or other records is enough by itself to show that your child meets the eligibility criteria, then no team or further evaluation is needed and you can move directly to the next step in the process, assessment for service planning.

Multidisciplinary means professionals from at least 2 different disciplines or professions. Under the federal law, one individual who is qualified in more than one discipline or profession meets the definition of multidisciplinary for eligibility determination and assessment for service planning.

All parents are a part of eligibility determination because they provide important information to the multidisciplinary team about their child's development. Let your service coordinator know if you also would like to be part of the multidisciplinary team discussion about whether your child is eligible. Otherwise, your service coordinator will call you after the team meets to let you know whether or not your child is eligible for early intervention services.

If the multidisciplinary team decides that your child is eligible for services, you will work together to do an assessment for service planning and develop an individualized family service plan (IFSP). These steps are explained in the next sections.

If the multidisciplinary team decides that your child is not eligible for early intervention services, you can ask your service coordinator to help with referrals to other resources in your community that may be helpful to your child and family. You also are welcome to call the Single Point of Entry for your local area again if you have concerns about your child's development.

If agreement cannot be reached on your child's eligibility, there are ways to help resolve these differences (see page 17).

Criteria for Eligibility for Early Intervention Services in Virginia

In Virginia, your child may qualify three different ways for early intervention services. Information gathered during the eligibility determination process will help identify if your child meets one or more of the eligibility criteria.

- I. Infants and toddlers with at least a 25% developmental delay (chronological age or age adjusted for prematurity) in one or more of the following areas:
 - 1. **cognitive development** (thinking skills);
 - 2. **physical development** (including the way muscles work, vision and hearing);
 - 3. **communication** (understanding what is said or communicating what is wanted)
 - 4. **social or emotional development** (ability to interact with others and express feelings); or
 - 5. **adaptive development** (doing things independently like eating and helping to dress self).

AND/OR

- II. Children without a 25% developmental delay who are developing atypically in one of more of the following:
 - 1. **atypical or questionable sensory-motor responses** (abnormal muscle tone, limitations in joint range of motion, abnormal reflex or postural reactions, poor quality of movement patterns or quality of skill performance, oral-motor skills dysfunction, including feeding difficulties)
 - 2. **atypical or questionable social-emotional development** (delay or abnormality in achieving expected emotional milestones, persistent failure to initiate or respond to most social interactions, or fearfulness or other distress that does not respond to comforting by caregivers)
 - 3. atypical or questionable behaviors that interfere with the acquisition of developmental skills or
 - 4. impairment in social interaction and communication skills along with restricted and repetitive behaviors.

AND/OR

- III. Children who have a diagnosed physical or mental condition that has a high probability of resulting in a developmental delay. These include, but are not limited to:
 - 1. seizures/significant encephalopathy (identifies the high risk group with low Apgars and/or asphyxia);
 - 2. significant central nervous system anomaly;
 - 3. severe Grade 3 intraventricular hemorrhage with hydrocephalus or Grade 4 intraventricular hemorrhage;
 - 4. symptomatic congenital infection;
 - 5. effects of toxic exposure including fetal alcohol syndrome, drug withdrawal and exposure to chronic maternal use of anticonvulsants, antineoplastics, and anticoagulants;
 - 6. myelodysplasia;
 - 7. congenital or acquired hearing loss;
 - 8. visual disabilities;
 - 9. chromosomal abnormalities, including Down syndrome;
 - 10. brain or spinal cord trauma, with abnormal neurologic exam at discharge;
 - 11. inborn errors of metabolism;
 - 12. microcephaly;
 - 13. severe attachment disorder;
 - 14. failure to thrive;
 - 15. autism spectrum disorder;
 - 16. endocrine disorders with a high probability of resulting in developmental delay;
 - 17. hemoglobinopathies with a high probability of resulting in developmental delay;
 - 18. cleft lip or palate;
 - 19. periventricular leukomalcia;
 - 20. neonatal factors that make developmental delay highly probable:
 - gestational age less than or equal to 28 weeks; or
 - NICU stay greater than or equal to 28 days; or
 - 21. other physical or mental conditions at the multidisciplinary team's discretion.

ASSESSMENT FOR SERVICE PLANNING

You will be given written prior notice before the assessment for service planning takes place. With your signed permission, your service coordinator will arrange for an *assessment* to learn about your child's strengths and needs in all areas of development. This information will help the team figure out what early intervention services are needed to meet your child's and family's needs. The assessment will include how your child:

- thinks and understands events occurring in his day this is called *cognitive development*;
- → sees things, hears sounds and voices and is growing this is called physical development;
- → moves this is called *gross motor or fine motor development*;
- → understands what you say or lets you know what she wants this is called *communication*;
- → gets along with other people and expresses his feelings this is called social or emotional development; and
- → does ordinary things expected of babies and toddlers like feeding herself, helping to dress himself and kissing and hugging - this is called adaptive development.

Assessment is the way that professionals learn about your child's strengths and needs and what services might help meet those needs. With your permission, assessment also includes learning about your family's concerns, priorities (what's most important to you), and resources.

Note: The words *she* and *he* or *her* and *him* are used alternately to refer to children. No matter what gender is used, both boys and girls are equally included.

If your child has already had an assessment, additional assessments may not be needed. Your service coordinator will make sure that any assessment procedures used are sensitive to your family's needs and culture.

During the assessment, your child will be given a fair chance to show what she can do. Your child will be assessed by a group of professionals who represent at least two professions or areas of development or by one professional who is qualified in two professions or areas of development. Professionals may include infant educators, speech therapists, physical therapists, occupational therapists, social workers, nurses, and/or others.

As the child's parent, you are an important part of the team during the assessment. You are welcome to participate in assessments and in any meetings where assessment results are discussed or explained. You can invite anyone to the assessment or meetings who can help you with the discussion about your child and can help you with making decisions. For the assessment, you have an opportunity to:

- → give permission before any testing is done;
- → give your service coordinator permission to gather information about your child from other professionals who know your child;
- → share with the team what you know about your child's skills and needs;
- → decide if the assessment will include information about your family's resources, priorities and concerns about your child;
- → include information from other people who have tested your child in the last six months;
- → get copies and explanations of the test results and other reports; and
- → ask questions about the assessment process or the results.

The information learned through the assessment for service planning will be used by the team during the next step, the Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) meeting.

INDIVIDUALIZED FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP) MEETING

The individualized family service plan (IFSP) is a written plan for providing early intervention services. Within 45 calendar days after referral, your team will meet to write an IFSP. At the IFSP meeting, members of the IFSP team, which includes you, work together to develop a plan for the next year.

You are an important member of the team. You can invite other family members or people who you feel can help you make good decisions for your child. Your service coordinator and local service providers will also be members of the team. Your service coordinator will set up the meeting at a time and place that is convenient and comfortable for you. You will also receive this information in writing.

At the IFSP meeting, you and the rest of the team will discuss your child's strengths and needs, what you consider most important for your child and family, and goals and *outcomes*. This is a good starting point for deciding what services are needed to help your child develop. All team members,

including you, share ideas about what activities and services will help your child and family. Together you will decide what goes in the IFSP.

Outcomes are statements of the major changes you and the rest of the team hope to see for your child and family.

The IFSP lists what you and the early intervention providers will be working on and includes:

- → the name of your service coordinator;
- → your child's current skills and levels of development;
- → if you agree, a statement of your family's resources (supports that you and your child have, including people, activities and programs/organizations), priorities, and concerns related to your child's development;
- → outcomes the team hopes to see for your child and family;
- → what early intervention services and supports will be provided;
- → where services will be provided;
- → the natural environment, to the extent appropriate, in which services
 will be provided, including the home and settings that are natural or
 typical for children who are your child's age;
- → how often services will be provided, when they will begin and how long they will last;
- → other services needed by your family but that the early intervention system does not make available;
- payment arrangements, if any;
- → a transition plan for when your child is getting ready to leave early intervention services; and
- → your signed permission to begin services.

You will be asked to sign the IFSP to show that you agree with the plan and want your child and family to get the services that it describes. You can choose to accept all, some, or none of the services. Nothing will be done without your permission. You can ask for the IFSP to be reviewed at any time. If there is ever a time when you and the rest of the team cannot reach agreement on what services should be in the IFSP, refer to page 17.

AVAILABLE EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES

Many kinds of early intervention services are available to meet the needs of the many different kinds of children and their families. Services can include:

- → assistive technology devices and services
- → audiology
- → developmental services
- → family training, counseling and home visits
- → health services
- → medical services (for diagnosis or assessment only)
- → nursing services
- → nutrition services
- → occupational therapy
- → physical therapy
- → psychological services
- → service coordination
- → sign language and cued language services
- → social work services
- → speech language pathology
- → transportation and related costs
- → vision services

Some families receive only a few services. Others receive more. It depends

on your child and family's needs. Regardless of the type and number of services you receive, early intervention providers coach and support you to interact with your child in ways to support their development during everyday routines and activities.

PAYING FOR EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES

Some services must be available at no cost to parents. These are eligibility determination, assessment, service coordination, IFSP development, and safeguards.

You may be charged for other early intervention services based on your ability to pay as determined using the steps described in the Facts About Family Cost Share section of Notice of Child and Family Rights and Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share. You received a copy of this document and it was explained to you when you received written prior notice before eligibility determination. You will be offered an additional copy and receive an explanation of this document at every IFSP review and annual IFSP meeting.

Some of the costs of services are supported by federal, state and local funds. Local early intervention service providers also rely upon payment from individual health insurance (with your permission) and Medicaid, as well as fees based on parent income in order to fund services. However, you will not be denied services because you cannot pay for them. If you have some questions about how services for your child might be funded, you should discuss this with your service coordinator.

IFSP REVIEWS

You, your service coordinator and service providers will review the IFSP over time to make any changes needed.

Six-Month IFSP Review

Ongoing assessment of your child's development and progress is built into early intervention services. Your child's IFSP will be reviewed every six months or more often if necessary. You, your service coordinator and, if appropriate, other service providers will review the IFSP. At the IFSP review, you and the others present will discuss your child's progress.

You can request a review of IFSP outcomes and services at any time. If your child is not making expected progress, or if you believe that services need to be adjusted (increased, decreased, or ended), an IFSP review can be held to discuss your concerns.

Written prior notice is required before changes to services: Anytime early intervention providers want to make a change or refuse to make a change in the services listed on your IFSP, they must give you a notice in writing. Changes might include adding a new service, ending a service, or a change in how often you will receive a service. The change may have been suggested by you or by a provider(s). The notice must tell you what you can do if you disagree with the proposed change.

Any possible change will be discussed with you at an IFSP meeting first, and the written notice must be given to you **before** the change is discussed at an IFSP meeting. You can take time to think about the change and decide if you agree with it. You can also show the notice to others (a professional or friend) who can help you decide what is best for your child.

Annual IFSP

At least once a year, your team meets to discuss your child's progress and update the IFSP. Your service coordinator arranges this team meeting at a time and place that is convenient for you. Before an annual meeting, your service coordinator will let you know about the meeting in writing and give you an explanation of your safeguards in writing. As a part of the team, you will be asked to join in on the discussions and decision-making as you did for the first IFSP.

At the time of the annual IFSP, a multidisciplinary team will review information from you and from your child's service providers to check that your child is still eligible for early intervention services.

Things I want to remember:

TRANSITION

By the time they leave early intervention, some children no longer need special assistance. Others still need some more help. This can be provided by community agencies, private providers or by the early childhood special education system in the public schools.

You should be informed about Virginia's system of services for children through age 5 at your first IFSP meeting. Virginia's system of services is designed to transition eligible children into public school services, if you agree, as early as age two (at the start of the school year in which your child is 2 by September 30) and by age 3.

Your local school system provides early childhood special education for children with delays and disabilities under what is called *Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)*. In Virginia, eligible children who will be two years old by September 30th can begin early childhood special education at the start of the school year. Many two year olds move to services through the school system in September of the year they are eligible. Transitions for some two year olds may be delayed until later in that school year if the local school system allows that. You decide when your child transitions as a part of the IFSP. Early intervention services continue to be available until the transition occurs or until your child's third birthday.

A transition plan helps you and your child move smoothly from early intervention to whatever comes next for your child. This transition plan is a part of your child's IFSP and must be developed at least 90 days or up to nine months (if all parties agree) prior to your child's third birthday or prior to your child's anticipated date of transition if he/she will transition earlier.

Steps in the transition to special education may include:

- → notifying the local school division and the Virginia Department of Education of your child's name and birth date and your name, address, and telephone number as your child gets close to the age of eligibility for special education (at least 90 days before your child's anticipated date of transition), unless you indicate in writing on the IFSP transition page that you do not want the information sent. This notification serves as a referral for special education services;
- → transferring information about your child (such as assessment)

- information and IFSPs) to the local school system, with your permission;
- → having a conference with the local school system at least 90 days or up to nine months (if all parties agree) prior to your child's anticipated date of transition;
- → discussing future services and placements; and
- → preparing you and your child for a change in services and helping her adjust to a new setting.

During the transition from early intervention to early childhood special education services, your service coordinator can go to meetings with you.

If your child is not eligible for special education, but still needs some services or supports, your service coordinator will, with your approval, attempt to schedule a transition meeting with others in the community to discuss next steps for your child and family. Your service coordinator can help you plan for and find other services in your community, as available. These might include Head Start, nursery schools, or other education or family support programs that can help meet your needs. Your IFSP will document these efforts.

As your child leaves early intervention services, it is a good idea to make sure you have a complete copy of your child's records. The records will help you document the progress your child has made and may be useful as you plan for future services and supports. Review your child's early intervention records to decide what information you would like passed along to special education or your next service providers. If you disagree with something in your child's records, you can ask to have them changed. See page 16 for information on how to do this.

CONFIDENTIALITY

The early intervention services your family and child receive and the reasons you need these services are personal and private. Although you share personal information about your child or your particular family situation with your service providers, your privacy is protected through the confidentiality requirements in the early intervention system.

Confidentiality extends to written records and conversations people may have with you or about your child and family.

Early intervention providers collect information to keep careful track of what services are provided to your family and how well your child is doing. Keeping information confidential is not only a federal and state requirement, but also an important part of gaining your trust.

"My little boy's disability is one that a lot of people don't know about. It was so nice to have help with finding out who in my area could help us. But I always knew they wouldn't talk to anyone about us without our permission." —A Virginia Parent

There are extensive requirements telling early intervention providers how to handle confidential records. These include:

- → Record storage: All records that contain personally identifiable information are kept where only certain people can see them. These authorized people include individuals who have a legitimate reason to look at your early intervention records. They include your service coordinator, the professionals working with you and your family, and the administrators of the agencies responsible for providing you with services.
- → Authorization to see files: No one can give out information or tell what is in your child's record without your permission except under very limited circumstances allowed under federal law.
- → **Disclosure record:** The local early intervention system has a list of all the files kept on your child and family. There is also a list of everyone who has looked at any of your child's records. You can see this "disclosure record" if you ask.
- ▶ Parent permission: Except under very limited circumstances allowed under federal law, confidential information in the files cannot be shown or given to anyone without your written permission. A copy of your written permission telling what information can be shared and who can get it must be kept in the file.

→ **Disposal of records:** Your early intervention system will provide notification of when they no longer need the information in your child's records. Often the early intervention system will destroy the record at that point, and they are required to do so if you request it. However, the provider may maintain permanent records of your child's name, date of birth, your contact information (address, phone number), the names of your child's service coordinator and other early intervention providers, and information about when your child exited the early intervention program and any programs he transitioned to upon exit.

Periodically, during your time in Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia, you will receive a copy and explanation of Notice of Child and Family Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share which explains in detail all of the safeguards under Part C, including those related to confidentiality.

REVIEWING YOUR CHILD'S RECORDS

Looking at your child's and family's early intervention records helps you know about your child and your child's services. The more you know, the more effective you will be as a member of the team making decisions about your child. Knowing what is in the records helps you make the best decisions for your child. It is helpful to check to make sure that what is in your child's records is accurate.

You can ask your service coordinator to make arrangements for you to look through the records. Early intervention providers must let you see the records within a reasonable time (within 10 calendar days of your request) and before any meeting about your child. You can ask for explanations of anything you see in the records. You can also arrange for someone representing you or your child to look at the records.

You can ask for copies of information in the records. One copy of the record must be made available to you at no cost. After that, you may be asked to pay for the actual cost of making the copies, but not for the time it takes to find and copy them. If you cannot afford to pay for the copies, you can still receive copies of your child's records.

If you see something in the records that you believe is not accurate, you can ask that it be changed or removed. Ask your service coordinator for help with this and about the local procedure to request a change in the records.

If service providers do not make the change you request, you can ask for a hearing. If the hearing officer determines that the record does not have to be changed, you can place your own explanation of the information into the file. Your explanation must be kept with the file and included every time the information you object to is given out so that the person who receives it will know about your concern.

RESOLVING DISAGREEMENTS

Early intervention works best when families and professionals work together. This means sharing information, being honest about ideas and feelings, listening carefully, asking questions, and treating everyone with courtesy and respect.

Even the best of friends sometimes disagree. The same is true for families and service providers. In most cases, families and professionals can discuss their disagreements and reach a compromise that everyone can accept.

You and the people providing early intervention services are a team and have the same goal. You all want your child to get a good start in life. Service providers want you to be satisfied with what the team is doing on behalf of your child and family. Everyone on your team should listen to your ideas and concerns, and answer your questions. It is easier to come to agreement when everyone tries to understand each other's view of the situation.

If you have differences, you will probably be able to settle those differences more easily if you:

- → are specific about what is bothering you and give examples;
- → know what effect the disagreement has on you and your child;
- → are clear about how you want the situation to be different; and
- → explain what you want others to do to make things better.

Sometimes, even when people mean well and try hard, talking it over does not work. There are three formal ways in the early intervention system to resolve disagreements. These are called complaints, mediation and impartial due

process hearings. A general description of these three procedures is provided below. A complete description is included in <u>Notice of Child and Family Rights and Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share</u>.

Filing a Complaint

Anyone can file a complaint if they believe any agency or person providing early intervention services has violated the early intervention requirements. Complaints must be made in writing, signed and must include your contact information; the specific facts on which the complaint is based, including the Part C requirement that is alleged to have been violated; the name of your child and the service provider; and a proposed solution to the problem if you have one. Complaints must be filed within one year.

As the parent of a child receiving early intervention services, you can also file a written complaint when you disagree with anything related to the services your child and family are getting. For example, you might want to file a complaint if your local early intervention system is not:

- → doing something the team agreed to—like conducting an assessment or providing a service;
- → meeting important deadlines—like determining eligibility and developing an IFSP in 45 days; or
- → letting you look at your child's early intervention records.

Include in your written complaint specifically what action or decision you disagree with and why you object. Send a copy of your complaint to the agency or provider serving your child at the same time you send the complaint to:

Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services Office of Early Intervention P.O. 1797 Richmond, VA 23218

Call the Department at (804)786-3710 if you have questions.

Once your complaint is received, the state agency responsible for early intervention will investigate. You will be given the opportunity to submit

additional information, either verbally or in writing, about your complaint. You will be notified of the results of the investigation within 60 calendar days. Any issues that are currently being addressed in a due process hearing will not be investigated as a state complaint.

Using Mediation

Many disagreements between families and professionals can be worked out with the help of a mediator. *Mediation* is a process that makes it possible for a specially trained person, who doesn't have a financial or other interest in the case, to help you and the early intervention system reach an agreement.

In mediation, no one wins or loses. Successful mediation builds on the partnership you have with providers and keeps it strong. The result of mediation is that you and providers write down and sign what you each agree to do to solve the problem. Mediation occurs at a time and place convenient for both you and individuals representing the early intervention system.

You can begin mediation and file a request for an impartial hearing at the same time or you can begin mediation without requesting an impartial hearing. Mediation is voluntary. This means that if you do not think it will work, you do not have to do it.

The mediation process must be completed within 15 calendar days of the Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia's state office receipt of notice that both parties agree to mediation. Mediation cannot extend the timelines for a due process hearing (30 calendar days).

Requesting a Due Process Hearing

Hearings are the most formal way to resolve disputes. You can request a hearing if you disagree with a decision or action that affects your child's identification, eligibility determination, placement or the services you and your child receive.

Hearings are conducted by impartial hearing officers who know the early intervention law, regulations, policies and practices. A hearing is a formal proceeding where evidence can be presented and witnesses can be called to testify. You can bring a lawyer with you or anyone else you think can help you present your case and best represent your child's interests.

A hearing follows a number of rules, including strict timelines. The main

rules for hearings are:

- → hearing officers must be completely impartial—which means that they cannot have a personal or professional interest that would conflict with their objectivity in the outcome of the hearing or be an employee of any agency or entity providing early intervention services or care to your child;
- → hearings must be held when and where it is reasonably convenient for you to attend;
- → evidence presented must be shown to you at least five days before the hearing;
- → the hearing must be recorded. The record can be a tape or a written transcript, and you can ask for a free copy;
- → the hearing officer must make a decision and mail the written decision
 to each party no more than 30 calendar days after the request for a
 hearing is filed; and
- → during the hearing process, your child and family must continue to receive the early intervention services currently in your IFSP unless you and the early intervention system agree otherwise. If the hearing involves a request for initial services and your child has been determined eligible, your child must receive those services already agreed to by you and the early intervention system.

Your written request for a hearing should say specifically what action or decision you disagree with and what you want changed. Send your request for an impartial hearing to:

Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services Office of Early Intervention P.O. 1797 Richmond, VA 23218

Call them at (804)786-3710 if you have questions.

After the hearing is completed, the hearing officer makes a decision based on

the facts and evidence presented. If you are not satisfied with the hearing officer's decision, you may file civil action with any state or federal court.

Filing a Medicaid Appeal (For Medicaid recipients only)

When the Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia plans to take an action that adversely affects your child's services, you will receive a Notice of Action letter that explains how you can file an appeal with the Department of Medical Assistance Services, the state Medicaid agency in Virginia. Both the Notice of Action letter and the Notice of Child and Family Rights and Safeguards Including Facts About Family Cost Share explain what actions can be appealed, how to file an appeal and where to get more information.

If you have a disagreement with your early intervention service providers, deciding upon which options to take can be complicated. If you have questions, discuss your options with your service coordinator, who has the responsibility to make sure that you understand your options. You can also call The Arc of Virginia at 1 (804) 649-8481, the Disability Law Center at (800) 552-3962 or the Parent Educational Advocacy Training Center at (703) 923-0010 or toll-free (800) 869-6782 to discuss options.

Things I want to remember:	

GLOSSARY

Assessment—the ongoing procedures used by appropriate qualified personnel throughout the period of a child's eligibility under Part C to identify: (a) the child's unique strengths and needs and the services appropriate to meet those needs; and (b) the resources, priorities and concerns of the family and the supports and services necessary to enhance the family's capacity to meet the developmental needs of their child.

Developmental delay—see page 6 of this guide

Eligibility—see page 6 in this guide

Eligibility Determination – the process by which a multidisciplinary team determines whether or not a child meets the Infant & Toddler Connection of Virginia eligibility criteria

Family—defined according to each family's definition of itself

IFSP or individualized family service plan— a written plan for providing early intervention services to eligible children/families

Mediation—a voluntary process freely agreed to by parents and providers to attempt to resolve Part C disagreements.

Multidisciplinary— the involvement of two or more qualified professionals from different disciplines or professions (or, in the case of eligibility determination and assessment for service planning, one individual who is qualified in two or more disciplines of professions)

Natural Environment—settings that are natural or normal for children who are your child's age

Personally identifiable information— information that would make it possible to identify your child with reasonable certainty, such as your child's and other family members' names, social security numbers, address, or a list of personal characteristics

Surrogate parent—an individual who is assigned to act for a parent when the child is a ward of the state or a parent cannot be identified or located

Transition—the entry or exit of children and families to and from early intervention services. See page 13 in this guide